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Prepared November 4, 2010 (for November 18, 2010 Hearing) 

To: Coastal Commissioners and Interested Persons 

From: Dan Carl, District Manager 
Susan Craig, Coastal Planner 

Subject: Appeal A-3-SCO-10-052 Appeal by Dennis Beach of a Santa Cruz County decision granting 
a coastal development permit with conditions to Lou and Isabel Bartfield for additions to and 
remodeling of the Rio Sands Motel (including a new mansard roof, enlargement of the 
existing entrance foyer, enclosure of existing uncovered stairways, and improvements in 
building façade, exterior lighting, signage, and landscaping) located at 150 Stephen Road in 
the unincorporated Rio del Mar area of Santa Cruz County. Appeal Filed: October 20, 2010. 
49th Day: December 8, 2010 (waived). 

Recommendation  
Staff recommends that the Commission determine that no substantial issue exists with respect to the 
grounds on which appeal A-3-SCO-10-052 was filed. Staff recommends a YES vote on the following 
motion and resolution: 

Motion and Resolution. I move that the Commission determine and resolve that Appeal 
Number A-3-SCO-10-052 does not present a substantial issue with respect to the grounds on 
which the appeal has been filed under Coastal Act Section 30603 regarding consistency with the 
certified Local Coastal Program. 

Passage of this motion and resolution will result in a finding of no substantial issue and adoption of the 
following findings. By such action, the Coastal Commission declines to take jurisdiction over the coastal 
development permit (CDP) for this project, the County’s action becomes final and effective, and any 
terms and conditions of the County’s decision remain unchanged. The motion passes only by an 
affirmative vote of the majority of the appointed Commissioners present 

Findings 
On September 17, 2010, Santa Cruz County approved a CDP authorizing remodeling and minor 
additions to the existing 42-room Rio Sands Motel (which was built in 1959), including: 1) enclosing 
and enlarging the entrance foyer; 2) enclosing the east and west stairs; 3) constructing a mansard roof1; 
4) constructing a trash enclosure at the east end of the motel; 5) remodeling the covered walkway 
colonnade, and; 6) installing new signage and lighting on the exterior of the remodeled entrance foyer 
(see Exhibit 1 for the County’s Final Local Action Notice for the development). The County-approved 

                                                 
1 A mansard roof has two slopes on each of the four sides. The lower slope is steeper than the upper slope. Dormers are often set in the    

lower slope. The upper slope is usually not visible from the ground. 
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project will maintain the existing number of rooms and parking spaces, and there will be no change in 
the amount of impervious area. Pursuant to Coastal Act Section 30603, this approval is appealable to the 
Commission because a motel is not designated as the principal permitted use under the zoning ordinance 
or zoning district map.2 The Appellant contends that the County’s approval is inconsistent with the 
Santa Cruz County Local Coastal Program (LCP) requirements related to parking, setbacks, and 
maximum allowable height. The Appellant also contends that the County should not have allowed the 
Applicant up to two years to complete the project (see the full appeal document in Exhibit 2). 

Coastal Act Section 30625(b) requires the Commission to hear an appeal unless it determines that no 
substantial issue exists with respect to the grounds on which the appeal has been filed.3 Commission 
staff has analyzed the City’s Final Local Action Notice for the development (Exhibit 1), the Appellant’s 
contentions (Exhibit 2), the project plans (Exhibit 3), the Applicant’s response to the Appellant’s 
contentions (Exhibit 4), and the relevant requirements of the LCP. Based on this analysis, staff 
recommends that the Commission find that the appeal raises no substantial issue with respect to the 
project’s conformity with the LCP, as explained below. 

With respect to parking, the Appellant contends that the required removal of three parking spaces has 
not been included in the County’s Conditions of Approval for the project. However, in response to 
comments made at the September 3, 2010 Zoning Administrator’s hearing, the Applicant submitted 
revised plans to the County (see page 2 of Exhibit 3) that relocated two parking spaces from the east 
side of the entrance foyer to the west side of the property4 to ensure that the car parked closest to the 
east side of the foyer has clear and safe visibility when backing out (i.e., there is now a gap that is the 
width of two parking spaces directly adjacent to the east side of the entrance foyer, which will provide 
an adequate line of sight for the car that is parked closest to the east side of the entrance foyer when 
backing out onto Stephen Road (which is a one-way street)). The County approved these revised plans 
at the September 17, 2010 Zoning Administrator hearing. Thus, there will be no net loss of parking at 
the motel.   

The Appellant further contends that enlargement and enclosure of the existing entrance foyer will be 
located just one foot back from the public sidewalk and will constitute a safety hazard that will 
negatively impact traffic on Stephen Road and parking in the surrounding neighborhood. The existing 
entrance foyer is set back about one foot from the property line and about 4½ feet from the existing 

                                                 
2  The site is zoned RM-3.5 (Multi-Family Residential, 3,500 square foot minimum parcel size). The existing motel is an allowable use 

within the RM-3.5 zoning district. 
3  The term “substantial issue” is not defined in the Coastal Act or its implementing regulations. In previous decisions on appeals, the 

Commission has generally been guided by the following factors in making substantial issue determinations: the degree of factual and 
legal support for the local government’s decision; the extent and scope of the development as approved or denied by the local 
government; the significance of the coastal resources affected by the decision; the precedential value of the local government's decision 
for future interpretations of its LCP; and, whether the appeal raises only local issues as opposed to those of regional or statewide 
significance. 

4  The approved plans show these two parking spaces relocated to the west side of the property in an area where a previously existing 
trash enclosure was proposed. An approved storage area on the east end of the building will now be used for trash.  
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sidewalk.5 The remodeled entrance foyer will be set back these same distances from the property line 
and the existing sidewalk (see page 3 of Exhibit 3). Thus, remodeling the foyer will not have an impact 
on traffic safety on Stephen Road. 

In addition, as discussed above, to provide a better line of sight for cars backing up onto Stephen Road, 
the project will relocate two parking spaces from the east side of the entrance foyer to another location 
on the site. This specifically addresses the issues associated with cars backing up immediately adjacent 
to the foyer. Thus the remodeled and enlarged entrance foyer will not negatively impact traffic on 
Stephen Road. Also, the proposed project maintains the existing number of rooms (42) and the existing 
number of onsite parking spaces (46)6, and so it will not negatively impact parking in the surrounding 
neighborhood. 

The Appellant also contends that the Applicant is out of compliance with the LCP because a large 
storage area was built before the appropriate permit was issued. According to the Applicant (see Exhibit 
4), the County recently investigated a building code compliance complaint by the Appellant and found 
that the complaint did not have merit. 

The Appellant further contends that, as remodeled, the roof height of the County-approved project will 
create a loss of light in the area and will dwarf and be inconsistent with existing residential structures in 
the area. The existing two-story motel has a flat roof and is about 20 feet high. The County-approved 
project will have east and west stair roofs with eaves about 20 feet high and ridges about 24½ feet high. 
The foyer roof will have eaves about 23½ feet high and a peak about 27½ feet high. Thus, the project is 
consistent with the LCP’s maximum roof height of 28 feet in the RM-3.5 zoning district (LCP Section 
13.10.323). Also, the roofs have been designed as hip roofs (i.e. sloped roofs) to minimize visual 
impacts on the surrounding neighborhood. In short, the project meets the LCP’s height limits, and the 
additional height (above existing) is meant to – and should – ensure a more attractive façade that will be 
consistent with the LCP’s requirements to protect views. 

Finally, the Appellant contends that the County should have allowed the Applicant only one year to 
finish the project, instead of two years (see Special Condition F on page 13 of Exhibit 1) to avoid 
neighborhood impacts from ongoing construction. In order to keep the motel completely open during the 
next two summer tourist seasons, the Applicant plans to remodel half of the motel during the coming 
winter and the other half of the motel during the next winter. Thus, the construction will be split into 
two phases over two winters and will not be continuous over two years, which should not result in 
significant impacts to the surrounding neighborhood. 

In conclusion, the County has provided adequate factual and legal support for its decision that the 
                                                 
5  The LCP requires a 20-foot setback from Venetia Road and a 10-foot setback from Stephen Road. The existing motel foyer is located 

about 4½ feet and 1 foot, respectively, from these rights-of-way, and the remodeled motel would maintain these same setbacks. 
6  LCP Section 13.10.552(b) requires that off-street parking for motel uses in residential districts shall equal 1.1 parking space per unit or 

1 parking space per habitable room, whichever is more. Thus, using the 1.1 parking space per unit formula, a 42-room motel requires 46 
off-street parking spaces, which the motel provides. 
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approved development would be consistent with the applicable standards of the certified LCP; the 
project is an enhancement that largely is the same in scope as the existing development; the project does 
not raise any significant coastal resource issues; the County’s decision should not lead to an adverse 
precedent, and; the approval raises local issues as opposed to those of regional or statewide importance. 
Thus, for the reasons stated above, the Commission finds that Appeal Number A-3-SCO-10-052 does 
not present a substantial issue with respect to the grounds on which the appeal has been filed under 
Section 30603 of the Coastal Act regarding consistency with the certified LCP. 

 
Exhibits: 
Exhibit 1: Santa Cruz County’s CDP decision 
Exhibit 2: Appeal of Santa Cruz County’s CDP decision 
Exhibit 3: Project Plans 
Exhibit 4: Applicant’s response to Appeal Contentions 
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